FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/1/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
8/1/2023 2:39 PM

No. ____ 2 2 3 9 - 5

SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 84130-1-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

R.K.,

Petitioner,

V.

UNITED STATES BOWLING CONGRESS, et al.,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAW • FFICES • F
JAMES S. R•GERS

By: James S. Rogers WSBA No. 5335 Heather M. Cover WSBA No. 52146

1500 4th Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98101-1632 (206) 621-8525 SMITH G●●DFRIEND, P.S.

By: Howard M. Goodfriend WSBANO. 14355 Jonathan B. Collins WSBA No. 48807

A. Identity of Petitioner.

The petitioner is R.K., appellant in the Court of Appeals and plaintiff in the trial court. As a teenager, R.K. was a member of the Young American Bowling Alliance (YABA), the predecessor to respondent, the United States Bowling Congress (USBC). Between 1996 and 2000, R.K. sexually molested multiple times was Ty Treddenbarger, a YABA-certified bowling coach and President of YABA's state and local subsidiary affiliate organizations, the Washington State Young American's Bowling Alliance (WSYABA) and the Greater Seattle Young Americans Bowling Alliance (GSYABA). R.K. sued the USBC for negligently failing to protect him from Treddenbarger's sexual abuse, including incidents of abuse that occurred when R.K. was a minor participating in official YABA bowling events.

B. Court of Appeals Decision.

R.K. seeks review of the Court of Appeals' July 3, 2023 published decision affirming the trial court's summary judgment dismissal of R.K.'s claims on the ground that YABA lacked a protective special relationship with R.K. and other youth bowlers participating in YABA events. *R.K. v. United States Bowling Congress*, __ Wn. App. 2d ___, 531 P.3d 901, 2023 WL 4311464 (2023), cited in this petition as "Op. ¶_." A copy of the published decision is attached as Appendix A.

C. Issue Presented for Review.

Does the Court of Appeals' holding that a national youth bowling organization had no duty as a matter of law to protect its youth members participating in nationally sanctioned events from sexual abuse by a certified coach, on the grounds that it lacked "day-to-day custody and control" over its local affiliates' activities, warrant this Court's review as in conflict with the Court's decision in

H.B.H. v. State, 192 Wn.2d 154, 429 P.3d 484 (2018), and because it presents a recurring issue of substantial public concern? RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4).

D. Statement of the Case.

As this case was dismissed on summary judgment, the facts and reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to R.K.:

1. The Young American Bowling Alliance fostered and regulated youth bowling by supervising state and local affiliate organizations.

Founded in 1982, the Young American Bowling Alliance (YABA)—predecessor to respondent United States Bowling Congress (USBC) (CP 427-28)—was "the premier international youth membership organization in the sport of tenpin bowling." (CP 453) YABA provided education, mentorship, and guidance to young bowlers by operating coaching programs and tournaments across the country. (CP 452, 461-62, 464, 589)

YABA carried out its mission as the "mother umbrella" "national organization" (CP 501) of local subsidiary affiliate organizations including WSYABA, which had little independence and functionally operated as an extension of YABA; YABA required WSYABA and all local subsidiaries to carry the YABA name, to adopt mandatory constitutional and bylaw provisions, and retained the right to approve any bylaw provisions or amendments independently proposed by WSYABA. (CP 436, 438-42, 475-83, 492-97)

"[A]ll youth bowlers must be YABA members," and were required to join a local YABA affiliate and to pay YABA dues. (CP 454) A youth bowler seeking membership applied to YABA directly, and YABA automatically assigned the new member to a local affiliate organization based on geography. (CP 443-44, 454) YABA controlled member registration and established a cap for dues. (CP 443-44, 454)

YABA required that all bowling events and tournaments comply with YABA rules and policies. (CP 455-56) While local affiliates like WSYABA could organize and manage YABA-sponsored tournaments, affiliates were required to submit their planned tournament applications to YABA for approval and certification. (CP 499-500)

YABA also required local affiliates to conduct an annual state YABA championship tournament, certifying and recording the results, so that participants "knew that it was a certified tournament." (CP 500) YABA selected the awards and medals given to tournament finalists. (CP 589)

YABA also directly controlled certification of its coaches at three different levels, and in September 1997 YABA certified Ty Treddenbarger as a Junior Olympic Level I coach. (CP 449-50, 579, 586) YABA, not the local affiliates, maintained the rules and procedures for handling violations for misconduct by adult volunteers, YABA-certified coaches, or officers. YABA reserved to itself

authority to impose final discipline and to remove local officers. Local affiliates, including WSYABA, could only receive complaints, conduct hearings, and submit recommendations; WSYABA had no authority to impose discipline or remove officers on its own. (CP 446-48, 457-59, 494, 506-14)

By the late 1990's when Treddenbarger began abusing R.K., the threat of sexual abuse of minors by adult leaders in organizations serving youth was well known. YABA enacted disciplinary rules directed to the risk of sex abuse, specifically prohibiting adult leaders from engaging in "[i]nappropriate behavior or unbecoming conduct such as . . . physical, sexual, or mental abuse." (CP 458-59)

¹ See, e.g., Nack, William, "Every Parent's Nightmare The Child Molester Has Found a Home in the World of Youth Sports, Where as a coach he can gain the trust and loyalty of kids—and then prey on them", *Sports Illustrated*, (Sept. 13, 1999), available at: https://tinyurl.com/3tpz4tup (last visited on August 1, 2023).

In 2005, YABA merged with two other nonprofit bowling organizations to form USBC, the respondent here and defendant below. (CP 427-32) USBC assumed all of YABA's liabilities and obligations, including any existing legal claims. (CP 430)

2. Ty Treddenbarger used his leadership position within YABA to groom and sexually abuse young bowlers—including R.K.—for decades.

Beginning in 1983, Ty Treddenbarger served as an officer and youth bowling coach for YABA's state affiliate—WSYABA—and the local Greater Seattle YABA affiliate, GSYABA. (CP 488-89, 568) Treddenbarger's "enthusiasm and concern for the Youth Bowler was very contagious," and he achieved near-celebrity status in the bowling community. (CP 567-68) Beginning in 1995, he served as President of both WSYABA and GSYABA. (CP 526-27, 563, 567, 579) After the 2005 merger created USBC,

Treddenbarger continued to serve as the Director for both Washington and Greater Seattle USBC affiliates. (CP 579)

Treddenbarger's position as an officer of state and local YABA affiliates and his role as a YABA-certified bowling coach put him in close contact with many youth bowlers over the years. (CP 408-11, 536-38, 570-73, 575) Treddenbarger regularly traveled to YABA-sponsored tournaments with youth bowling participants, including with R.K.. (CP 415, 419-20) It was widely known among tournament and local YABA staff that Treddenbarger shared hotel rooms with the teen competitors. (CP 536-38) Many former YABA members, including R.K., later accused Treddenbarger of sexual abuse. (CP 292)

R.K. was 16 years old when he first met Treddenbarger in the fall of 1996. (CP 73, 408-09, 412)
R.K. participated in many YABA-associated events, including a local Saturday bowling league that Treddenbarger supervised and coached. (CP 100, 560)

Between 1997 and 1999, R.K. was the Youth Leader President for WSYABA and the GSYABA, working directly with Treddenbarger to organize YABA events. (CP 410-11)

Treddenbarger "routinely" sexually abused R.K. when they traveled to youth bowling tournaments out of town. (CP 556) For example, in October 1997—when R.K. was 17 years old (CP 73)—Treddenbarger sexually abused R.K. in a hotel room they shared while attending the statewide YABA jamboree in Ellensburg. (CP 118-19, 542) Treddenbarger also abused R.K. in their hotel room when they traveled to another bowling tournament in Tumwater. (CP 119-21) R.K. was subjected to similar abuse when he traveled with Treddenbarger on YABA-related trips, including an August 1997 trip taken to Las Vegas to plan a YABA event (CP 783-84), and on planning trips to Ocean Shores and Millersylvania State Park near Olympia. (CP 113-16)

Treddenbarger continued his pattern of sexual misconduct after R.K. graduated from high school when he and R.K. went on a six-week trip to bowling events in multiple states during the summer of 1998. (CP 108-10)

It took another 20 years for Treddenbarger's sexual abuse of YABA youth bowlers to come to light. In March 2017, Treddenbarger was arrested and charged in King County with sexual abuse of a 17-year-old he had coached. (CP 242) Treddenbarger later pled guilty in both state and federal courts to multiple charges arising from his sexual abuse of four minor victims between 2011 and 2015. (CP 237-55)

3. The trial court dismissed R.K.'s lawsuit against USBC on summary judgment, and the Court of Appeals affirmed, holding that YABA owed R.K. no duty of care.

Five of Treddenbarger's known victims, including R.K., sued USBC for its decades-long failure to protect minor bowlers from Treddenbarger's abuse. (CP 292) R.K.

filed his complaint against USBC and its local affiliate organizations alleging USBC's negligent investigation, hiring, retention, and supervision of Treddenbarger on September 17, 2020. (CP 1-7)

USBC moved for summary judgment, arguing that it owed R.K. no duty of care and that the statute of limitations, RCW 4.16.340(1)(c), had expired on R.K.'s claims. (CP 12-50) The trial court agreed with R.K. that the statute of limitations did not bar his claims as a matter of law. (RP 35-36) However, it dismissed R.K.'s claims on the ground that YABA lacked any special relationship with the youth bowlers entrusted to its care, even during YABA-sponsored events. (CP 813-17)

On July 3, 2023, the Court of Appeals affirmed in a published decision, holding that R.K. could not establish a special relationship with YABA that would support a common law duty of protection because YABA lacked "day-to-day" control over statewide YABA events. (Op. ¶¶17-23)

E. Reasons for Granting Review.

This Court should review the Court of Appeals' published decision holding that YABA lacked any special relationship with R.K. because it "was not involved in the day-to-day operations" of statewide YABA events. (Op. ¶20) The Court of Appeals ignored the substantial responsibility that YABA, which carried out its mission to "provide an educational program" and "adult leadership and guidance for the youth of America" (CP 461) via its officers and certified coaches through its local affiliates, owed to the youth bowlers entrusted to its care. This Court, and others, have rejected the strict requirement of "custody and control" employed by the Court of Appeals. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Moreover, the Court of Appeals' decision involves an issue of substantial public interest insofar as it limits recovery for sexual assault survivors—contrary to the

Legislature's express policy directive—further warranting this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

1. The decision conflicts with *H.B.H.* by requiring a victim of child sexual abuse to prove that YABA controlled the day-to-day operations of statewide YABA events to establish a special relationship duty of protection.

This Court has repeatedly affirmed that a defendant has a duty to prevent third parties from intentionally harming another when "a special relationship exists between the defendant and . . . the foreseeable victim of the third party's conduct." *Niece v. Elmview Grp. Home*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 43, 929 P.2d 420 (1997) (quoted source omitted); *see also Restatement (Second) of Torts*, § 315(b). R.K. was a foreseeable victim with whom YABA had a special protective relationship.

In *H.B.H. v. State*, 192 Wn.2d 154, 180-81, ¶45, 429 P.3d 484 (2018), this Court held that DSHS had a special relationship with dependent children placed in foster

homes, rejecting the State's contention that no duty of protection could exist because the foster parents had physical custody and controlled the children's care and supervision. The Court reasoned that "the foundation of a special relationship" giving rise to a duty of protection is "not physical custody" but "entrustment for the protection of a vulnerable victim." 192 Wn.2d at 173, ¶32. For example, "private persons entrust the care of children in their custody to schools, camps, and day care centers on a daily basis," and "[t]hese entities in turn delegate responsibilities to teachers, counselors, and caregivers," H.B.H., 192 Wn.2d at 180, ¶44, just as YABA delegated responsibilities to its local subsidiary affiliates, officers, and coaches.

This Court should grant review because the Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with *H.B.H.*, and engenders confusion regarding the responsibility of youth sports organizations to proactively protect minors from the

foreseeable harm of sexual exploitation by adults whom such organizations place in positions of trust and leadership. Here, YABA assumed responsibility for coach training and certification, proclaiming that "[c]oaching is a very important part" of the "YABA Mission." (CP 589) YABA also controlled the policies and procedures governing supervision of youth bowling events that it legitimized by certifying with its trusted name, including the statewide YABA event where Treddenbarger—then President of WYSABA and a YABA-certified coach—sexually molested R.K. (Op. ¶20)

In holding that R.K. could not establish a special relationship with YABA because it "was not involved in the day-to-day operations of WSYABA," (Op. ¶20), the Court of Appeals relied on N.K. v. Corp. of Presiding Bishop of the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints, 175 Wn. App. 517, 307 P.3d 730, rev. denied, 179 Wn.2d 1005 (2013). In N.K., Division One held that the Boy Scouts of

America had no duty to protect the plaintiff from a local volunteer's abuse because "an institutional defendant is not in a position to provide protection from physical danger" when it lacks "on-the-ground control of day-to-day operations." 175 Wn. App. at 535, ¶37.

But five years later, in *H.B.H.*, this Court undermined the foundation of Division One's holding that physical custody is a predicate to a special relationship. *Compare N.K.*, 175 Wn. App. at 535, ¶37 ("NK does not cite authority, and we have found none, that has allowed a case to proceed on the theory of a protective relationship in the absence of a custodial relationship between the organization and the victim"), *with H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 173, ¶31 ("[W]e have explained that it is not physical custody that creates the special relationship."). *See also N.L. v. Bethel Sch. Dist.*, 186 Wn.2d 422, 434, ¶19, 378 P.3d 162 (2016) ("[I]t does not follow [from *N.K.*] that the victim must be in the

school's custody at the time of the injury for the duty to have existed.").

"[W]hether a relationship is deemed special is a conclusion based on reasons of principle or policy." Restatement (Third) of Torts, § 40, comment h. Accord, Hertog ex. rel. S.A.H. v. City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 284, 979 P.2d 400 (1999). Here, however, the Court of **Appeals** did not consider the particular policy considerations relevant to imposing on a youth sports organization a duty to protect one of its members from sexual abuse. By focusing on the fact that YABA "did not determine which coaches had custody or supervised children" (Op. ¶22), the Court of Appeals erroneously emphasized ministerial or physical control-imposing a test more suitable to vicarious liability or the distinct duty to control the perpetrator of intentional harm, than it is relevant to a special relationship duty of protection.

The ability to control an individual who might engage intentional misconduct in controls whether the organization has a "special relationship" with intentional tortfeasor. By contrast, the organization's duty to protect its youth participants—at issue here—is based on different considerations, involving "entrustment and vulnerability." H.B.H.192 Wn.2d at **¶29** 172, ("entrustment and vulnerability . . . are at the heart of the special protective relationship"); compare C.J.C. v. Corp. of Cath. Bishop of Yakima, 138 Wn. 2d 699, 721, 985 P.2d 262 (1999) ("A special relationship between the defendant and the intentional tortfeasor may give rise to a duty to control the tortfeasor's conduct for the benefit of third persons.").

The Court of Appeals confused these two types of "special relationship" duties. Rather than focusing on "day-to-day" control, the Court of Appeals should have looked to the reasons parents entrust vulnerable children to a youth

sports organization, and the organization's ability to minimize the foreseeable risk that an adult given a position of authority would engage in sexual abuse. Parents entrusted their children to YABA's officers and coaches, and YABA was the best position to prevent foreseeable misconduct. These considerations, rather than "day-to-day" control establish the "special relationship" that, as a matter of policy, principle and common sense, imposes on YABA a common law duty to protect its youth bowling participants.

R.K.'s abuse occurred during bowling tournaments sponsored by YABA and its local affiliate, WSYABA, like the October 1997 statewide bowling jamboree in Ellensburg, attended by a national YABA representative. The Court of Appeals' emphasis on the fact that WSYABA "ran the jamboree" (Op. ¶20), ignores that this was a YABA event, as R.K.'s identity badge reflects. (CP 542) Youth bowlers participated in the WSYABA statewide jamboree

because YABA certified the results and ranked the competitors.

WSYABA had meaningful independence, no operating under mandatory constitutional provisions and bylaws that YABA imposed on all its local subsidiary affiliates. Events like the statewide jamboree had to comply with YABA policies, and WSYABA—like any local YABA subsidiary affiliate—had to submit an application for the statewide event for YABA's approval. The very purpose of YABA's control over YABA's state affiliates and the certification process was to legitimize those events with YABA's imprimatur and thereby assure participants and their parents that each event was reliably operated by YABA. (CP 500)

YABA could have, and should have, taken a proactive approach to prevent sexual abuse, such as by prohibiting Treddenbarger and other coaches and adult volunteers from sharing a hotel room with youth bowlers, a practice

that was common knowledge among WSYABA's leadership. (CP 536) Treddenbarger was in a position to groom and sexually abuse youth bowlers entrusted to his care solely by virtue of his role as both a YABA-certified bowling coach and President of YABA's local subsidiary affiliates, WSYABA and GSYABA. YABA's bowling events—organized and operated under YABA's policies, overseen by national YABA officers, and certified by YABA—provided Treddenbarger the opportunity to commit his crimes.

The Court of Appeals erred in failing to recognize that these factors, and not the day-to-day operation of WSYABA and other local affiliates, establish YABA's special relationship with the youth participants entrusted to its officers' care at the events it organized.

The California Court of Appeals rejected the *N.K.'s* emphasis on organizational control for this very reason in *Doe v. U.S. Youth Soccer Ass'n, Inc.*, 8 Cal App. 5th 1118, 214 Cal.Rptr.3d 552 (2017). The *Doe* court held that a

national youth soccer organization owed a special relationship duty to a minor plaintiff who was sexually abused by their soccer coach. The court stressed that "defendants, through the coaches, acted as 'quasi-parents' by assuming responsibility for the safety of the players whose parents [are] not present" during "overnight soccer activities." 8 Cal. App. 5th at 1130-31. This is analogous to the basis for a special relationship with R.K. in the instant case.

The *Doe* court further distinguished *N.K.* because—like R.K.—the "plaintiff was a member of US Youth [Soccer Association] and played on a . . . team, which was the local affiliate of US Youth [and] was required to comply with the policies and rules of US Youth." Because "US Youth established the standards under which coaches were hired, US Youth determined which individuals . . . had custody and supervision of children involved in its programs." *Doe*, 8 Cal. App. 5th at 1131; *see also Brown v. USA Taekwondo*,

40 Cal. App. 5th 1077, 1094-1101, 253 Cal.Rptr.3d 708 (2019) (national youth taekwondo organization owed a special relationship duty to plaintiffs who were sexually abused by their taekwondo coach "in his hotel and dormitory rooms during overnight trips to taekwondo competitions."), *aff'd*, 11 Cal.5th 204, 276 Cal.Rptr.3d 434 (2021).

The Court of Appeals attempted to distinguish this persuasive authority because "YABA did not hire coaches and did not determine which coaches had custody or supervised children involved in WSYABA events, even when they were YABA-certified." (Op. ¶23; see also ¶3: "YABA was not involved in youth bowlers' decisions of whether to work with a coach and who to work with.") But this is a meaningless distinction for purposes of analyzing the ability of a national organization to prevent the foreseeable risk of sexual abuse of its youth participants.

For one, YABA did "determine" which coaches its youth members would work with. When youth participants applied for membership to YABA, YABA required new members to join a local subsidiary affiliate organization and *automatically* assigned them based on geography. Thus, when R.K. applied to be a YABA member, he was automatically assigned by YABA to WSYABA and GSYABA, where Treddenbarger served as President and a YABA-certified coach. This is no different than the plaintiff in *Doe*, who joined her local youth soccer program where the tortfeasor served as one of several coaches. *Doe*, 8 Cal. App. 5th at 1124-25.

More importantly, by certifying its coaches, YABA determined which individuals would supervise the youth bowlers participating in its events. Indeed, the purpose of YABA's coach certification program was to train individuals to provide YABA-certified bowling instruction to youth members. (CP 502)

Encouraging these coach-athlete relationships was central to YABA's goal; the "YABA Mission" statement emphasizes that "[c]oaching is a very important part of YABA" because it is "committed to providing education, organized coaching, and development of youth participation in the sport of bowling." (CP 589) YABA even bestowed special awards to youth members who manage to best their own bowling coach, emblazoned with YABA's logo and the words "I BEAT MY COACH." (CP 558) That YABA "did not determine" (Op. ¶23) which specific coaches had custody for *specific* youth members is irrelevant to the special relationship YABA fostered with them.

The Court of Appeals' holding substantially narrows the range of reasonably foreseeable harms from which defendants owe those in their care a duty of protection. A specific harm—for example, from a specific YABA coach—need not be foreseeable; only the general field of danger giving rise to a *potential* harm need be foreseeable to

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