# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/31/2023 3:40 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case No. 102239-5

(Court of Appeals Case No. 84130-1-I)

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_

R.K.,

Petitioner,

v.

UNITED STATES BOWLING CONGRESS, ET AL.,

Respondents.

# RESPONDENT UNITED STATES BOWLING CONGRESS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW AND CONDITIONAL CROSS APPEAL

\_\_\_\_\_

Mirén C. First, WSBA #26202

KELLER ROHRBACK L.L.P.

1201 Third Avenue, Suite 3200

Seattle, WA 98101-3052

Telephone: (206) 623-1900 Facsimile: (206) 623-3384

Attorneys for Respondent United

States Bowling Congress

#### **

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

#### F. ARGUMENT

Under RAP 13.4(b) Considerations Governing Acceptance of Review, this Court will accept a petition for review in limited circumstances. Here, R.K. seeks review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4), which allow review only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; ... or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

R.K. does not satisfy either prong.

### 1. The Opinion is Not in Conflict with Any Case of This Court.

It is well-settled Washington law that there is no duty to prevent a third party from intentionally harming another unless

"a special relationship exists between the defendant and either the third party or the foreseeable victim of the third party's conduct." *H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 168 (citing *Niece v. Elmview Grp. Home*, 131 Wn.2d 39, 43, 929 P.2d 420 (1997) (quoting *Hutchins v. 1001 Fourth Ave. Assocs.*, 116 Wn.2d 217, 227, 802 P.2d 1360 (1991)). R.K. argues that the Court of Appeals "confused these two types of 'special relationships' duties." Pet. at 18. R.K. is mistaken.

In the Opinion, the Court of Appeals correctly began its analysis by noting that "[u]nder Washington case law, entrustment for the protection of a vulnerable victim is the foundation of a special protective relationship." Op. ¶ 17 (citing *H.B.H.*, 192 Wn.2d at 173). For example, schools owe students entrusted to their custody a duty to protect against reasonably anticipated dangers. *Id. See* e.g., *McLeod v. Grant Cnty. Sch. Dist. No. 128*, 42 Wn.2d 316, 320, 255 P.2d 360 (1953) (a child is compelled to attend school and the protective custody of teachers is mandatorily substituted for that of the parent). But

where a special relationship is not based on a recognized relationship, i.e., innkeeper to guest, school to pupil, hospital to patient, or DSHS to dependent children, *N.K. v. Corp. of Presiding Bishop of Church of Jesus Christ Latter-Day Saints*, 175 Wn. App. 517, 524-25, 307 P.3d 739 (2013), *review denied*, 179 Wn.2d 1005 (2013), sets forth the framework for examining whether a duty exists. This Court denied review of *N.K.* 

In *N.K.*, the Court of Appeals explained that a key feature in a special protective relationship between a plaintiff and an institutional defendant involves a custodial relationship. The court explained why entrustment or custody is so important:

Without a custodial relationship, typically involving on-the-ground control of day-to-day operations, an institutional defendant is not in a position to provide protection from physical danger as a school or church group does for children, or to monitor personal care as a hospital or nursing home does for disabled patients.

N.K.,175 Wn. App. at 535. But, the Court of Appeals correctly noted that a custodial relationship is not always necessary. Op. ¶ 21; See H.B.H, 192 Wn.2d at 170. Contrary to R.K.'s claim,

H.B.H. did not "undermine [] the foundation of Division One's holding that physical custody is a predicate to a special relationship." Pet. at 16. Rather, H.B.H. only examined the duty owed by DSHS to foster children following dependency hearings where DSHS becomes the "sole legal custodian of the child." H.B.H., 192 Wn.2d at 166. This Court reasoned that DSHS' role in placing foster children in foster homes was similar to its role in placing vulnerable adults with contractual caregivers because both roles "carry out the State's parens patriae responsibilities." H.B.H., 192 Wn.2d at 171 (citing Caulfield v. Kitsap County, 108 Wn. App. 242, 29 P.3d 738 (2001)); see also Turner v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 198 Wn.2d 273, 287, 493 P.3d 117 (2021).

The narrowness of the *H.B.H.* holding was confirmed in *M.E v. City of Tacoma*, 15 Wn.App.2d 21, 471 P.3d 950 (2020), review denied, 196 Wn.2d 1035 (2021). In *M.E.*, Division II had this to say on that issue:

*H.B.H.* only addressed whether there was a special relationship between DSHS and foster children. Nothing in *H.B.H.* indicates that the court

considered any broader context. In fact, *H.B.H.* does not even establish a special relationship between DSHS and children who are not in the legal custody of DSHS.

*M.E.*, 15 Wn.App.2d at 37 (citation omitted). *M.E.* also affirmed that a duty of protection is "based on the liable party's assumption for the responsibility for the safety of another." *Id.* (quoting Niece, 131 Wn.2d at 46).

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly applied the law to the facts and found no "special relationship" existed between R.K. and YABA, a Wisconsin corporation. R.K. disagrees with the Court of Appeals' final holding, that "nothing in the record supports a reasonable inference that YABA assumed responsibility for the safety of R.K.", but that is not a basis for accepting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). Op. ¶ 23.

R.K. also argues the Court of Appeals' opinion "substantially narrows the range of reasonably foreseeable harms from which defendants owe those in their care a duty of protection." Pet. at 25. Again, R.K. is mistaken. In the Opinion,

the Court of Appeals ruled in accord with well-settled Washington law that once a duty is found it is "limited by foreseeability." Op. ¶ 18 (citing *N.K.*, 175 Wn. App. at 530). However, having concluded that no duty existed, the Court of Appeals did not need to reach the issue of foreseeability. Op. ¶ 23. Foreseeability limits the scope of a duty; it does not independently create a duty. *Halleran v. Nu West, Inc.*, 123 Wn. App. 701, 717, 98 P.3d 52 (2004), review denied, 154 Wn.2d 1005 (2005).

Next, R.K. argues that the Opinion conflicts with out-of-state decisions. Pet. at 22. But, conflicts with decisions from foreign jurisdictions does not justify review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). But more importantly, California employs a different analysis in determining whether an institutional defendant has a duty to protect against the tortious acts of a third party. *Brown v. USA Taekwondo*, 11 Cal. 5th 204, 211, 276 Cal Rptr. 3d 434, 483 P.3d 159 (2021). Under a two-part test, in California, a court must first decide if a special relationship exists. *Id.* at 211. If a

special relationship is found, the court must determine whether policy considerations—the *Rowland* factors—support limiting or eliminating this duty.<sup>2</sup> *Id*.

In *Brown*, the California Supreme Court affirmed the finding of a special relationship between a Taekwondo coach and the national governing body ("NGB") of the sport, which imposed upon the NGB a duty to control the coach. *Brown*, 11 Cal. 5th at 211 (plaintiff sufficiently alleged a special relationship between NGB and the coach that enabled the former to control the coach's actions).<sup>3</sup> Aside from this California case

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The *Rowland* factors include "the foreseeability of harm to the plaintiff, the degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury, the closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury suffered, the moral blame attached to the defendant's conduct, the policy of preventing future harm, the extent of the burden to the defendant and consequences to the community of imposing a duty to exercise care with resulting liability for breach, and the availability, cost, and prevalence of insurance for the risk involved." *Brown*, 11 Cal. 5th at 211 n.3 (citing *Rowland v. Christian*, 69 Cal. 2d 108, 113, 70 Cal. Rptr. 97, 443 P.2d 561 (1968)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The California Court of Appeals, similarly, ruled that "plaintiffs allege[d] facts sufficient to show [the national governing body] had a special relationship with [the coach]"). *Brown v. USA* 

having no precedential value, it also addressed the duty to control a tortfeasor rather than the duty to protect at issue in this appeal.

R.K. also cites to *Doe v. United States Youth Soccer Ass'n*, 8 Cal App. 5th 1118, 214 Cal Rptr.3d 552 (2017), a California Court of Appeals case that considered and rejected Washington law. *Id.* at 1131 ("we disagree with *N.K.*"). *Doe* was factually distinguishable because the national organization, unlike YABA, established the standards under which coaches were hired and determined which individuals had "custody and supervision of children involved in its programs." Id. Here, despite the lack of precedential value, the Court of Appeals considered the *Doe* opinion and correctly distinguished it. In the Opinion, the Court of Appeals correctly applied Washington law when it found that the record before it was devoid of any evidence that "YABA assumed responsibility for the safety of R.K." Op. ¶ 23.

*Taekwondo*, 40 Cal. App. 5th 1077, 1094, 253 Cal. Rptr. 3d 708 (2019).

## 2. This Case is Not One of Substantial Public Importance Requiring This Court's Ultimate Determination.

R.K. argues that the substantial public interest prong permits review. Pet. at 3, 28-30. R.K. is mistaken. Under RAP 13.4(b)(4) review may be granted "[i]f the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." There is no substantial public interest at stake in R.K.'s case. The Court of Appeals' Opinion reflects a straightforward application of Washington law on the special protective relationship based on entrustment—recently acknowledged in H.B.H.—to the unique facts of this case. The fact that R.K. does not agree with the trial court's and Court of Appeals' factual analysis does not create an "issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4). Compare State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577, 122 P.3d 903 (2005) (Court of Appeals decision had the "potential to affect every sentencing proceeding in Pierce County

after November 26, 2001, where a DOSA sentence was or is at issue").

Here, R.K. states, the Court of Appeals' "decision deprives these survivors of a remedy that the Legislature has expanded, not narrowed, allowing victims suffering juvenile sexual abuse to sue even if the abuse occurred decades ago." Pet. at 28. Again, R.K. is mistaken. The Opinion does not address, much less narrow, the period within which victims of childhood sexual abuse may sue. Indeed, having appropriately affirmed the trial court's finding that YABA did not owe R.K. a duty of care, the Court of Appeals did not address USBC's argument that the statute of limitations had run on R.K.'s claims. Op. ¶ 42. There is no substantial public interest at stake here.

#### 3. Conditional Issues.

Should this Court accept review, however, this Court should also accept USBC's conditional issues under RAP 13.4(b)(1): (1) that the statute had run on R.K.'s claims, and (2) USBC did not assume the liabilities of YABA's subsidiary.

R.K. was diagnosed with no new injury within three years of filing his lawsuit. CP 664; 665. Further, R.K., admitted he connected his perceived injury—the inability to trust others—to the alleged abuse years before filing suit. CP 145-146. Under the plain meaning of the words within RCW 4.16.340(1)(c), the childhood sexual abuse statute of limitations, because R.K. connected his injuries to the abuse more than three years before filing, the statute of limitations had run on R.K.'s claims.

In his opposition to USBC's motion for summary judgment, R.K. argued that working too hard was a newly discovered "injury" that tolled the statute of limitations. CP 318, 597. Given the lack of a specific definition within the statute itself, the term "injury" would be interpreted according to its common and legal meaning. *Seattle Hous. Auth. v. City of Seattle*, 3 Wn. App. 2d 532, 538, 416 P.3d 1280 (2018); *HomeStreet, Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue*, 166 Wn.2d 444, 451, 210 P.3d 297 (2009). In this context, "injury" typically refers to harm, damage, or loss suffered by a plaintiff, whether physical,

or emotional. It would be a departure from established case law if "working hard" were to be accepted as an injury under RCW 4.16.340. State v. Janes, 121 Wn.2d 220, 232-35, 850 P.2d 495 (1993) (discussing the physiological and psychological effects on children of emotional and sexual abuse); State v. Stevens, 58 Wn. App. 478, 496-97, 794 P.2d 38 (1990), review denied, 115 Wn.2d 1025 (1990) (discussing the effects of sexual abuse on children). Working hard and having a successful career is not an "injury" that tolled the statute of limitations. 4 CP 631, 683, 687. Therefore, should this Court accept R.K.'s petition, this Court should also address the statute of limitations issue. Queen City Farms, Inc. v. Cent. Nat'l Ins. Co. of Omaha, 126 Wn.2d 50, 64 n.1, 882 P.2d 703 (1994).

Similarly, it is well-established that the liability of a subsidiary corporation may only be imputed to a parent

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> R.K.'s expert identified the evidenced based effects of childhood sexual abuse and working hard and having a successful career is not one of them. CP 675-676.

corporation when state law supports piercing the corporate veil. Minton v. Ralston Purina Co., 146 Wn.2d 385, 398, 47 P.3d 556 (2002). To pierce the corporate veil, two essential factors must be proven: (1) the corporate form was intentionally manipulated to violate or evade a legal duty to the plaintiff, and (2) disregarding the corporate veil is necessary to prevent an unjustified loss to the plaintiff. Dickens v. All. Analytical Labs., L.L.C., 127 Wn. App. 433, 440-41, 111 P.3d 889 (2005). The Court of Appeals did not reach this issue in its Opinion. Should this Court accept review, this Court should also consider whether the Court of Appeals' Opinion should also be affirmed because USBC is not liable for the acts of its predecessor's subsidiary's board member's actions.

#### G. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals' Opinion upholding the trial court's dismissal of R.K.'s claim does not conflict with *H.B.H.* and does not raise an issue of substantial public interest. Because R.K.

meets none of the criteria for review under RAP 13.4(b), the Petition should be denied.

I hereby certify that this document contains 4,923 limit words in accordance with RAP 18.17.